
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Wednesday, 13 January 2016 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, M D Booth, R Clark, G K Dark, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
A Harrison, C N Johnson, J L King, J D McLean, M J Pullen, J L Reynolds, M D Seymour 
(Chairman), A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman) and P A Williams

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   5 January 2016



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
4 November 2015 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
1 - 6)

3. Declaration of Interests. - (Councillors are reminded that under the Code 
of Conduct they are not to participate in the whole of an agenda item to 
which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  In the interests of 
transparency, councillors may also wish to declare any other interests 
that they have, in relation to an agenda item, that supports the Nolan 
principles detailed within the Code of Conduct.)

4. Questions asked under Council Procedure Rule 10.3. 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet to 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan, issued 5 
January 2016 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
7 - 10)

8. Addressing Long Term Empty Homes - To present an update on the 
current situation regarding long term empty homes in South Holland 
(report of the Executive Director Place enclosed)

(Pages 
11 - 18)

9. Street Scene Issues - To respond to issues raised at Policy 
Development Panel on 4 November 2015 (report of the Executive 
Director Place enclosed)

(Pages 
19 - 26)

10. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To set out the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed)

In addition to the report, the following issues are to be considered by the 
Panel under this agenda item:

i. At the joint Scrutiny meeting on 14 December 2015 (Budget 
Scrutiny), it was recommended that the Policy Development 
Panel gives consideration to examining whether the Council 
should have a policy that says that all residual gain from Right to 
Buy sales is ring fenced for council housing and that the outcome 
of this consideration is recommended to Cabinet in order to assist 
at future Medium Term Financial Plan setting.  The Panel is 
asked to consider if it wishes to take this forward and if so, 
schedule this work into a future meeting.

ii. To consider issues raised at the last meeting of the Panel 
concerning why companies/the NHS/schools etc had difficulty 
attracting professionals to the area, and how this linked to 

(Pages 
27 - 36)



community well-being – the Panel had suggested the formation of 
a Task Group to look at developing a policy to address these 
issues, and had requested that the Executive Director Place draw 
together a draft scope for consideration.  

11. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



This page is intentionally left blank



- 23 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in Meeting Room 
1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 4 November 2015 at 6.30 
pm.

PRESENT
 

A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman)

D Ashby
J R Astill
G K Dark

L J Eldridge
A Harrison
J L King

J D McLean
J L Reynolds
P A Williams

In Attendance:  Matthew Clayton (Admissions and Education Provision Manager, 
Children’s Services, Lincolnshire County Council), David Hair (Member Services 
Manager, Lincolnshire County Council, the Shared Executive Director Place, and the 
Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M D Booth, 
R Clark, M J Pullen and M D Seymour.

Action By
29. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Astill declared an interest in the agenda item relating to 
primary and secondary school provision in the South Holland 
area,  as he was related to a child who had been unable to gain 
admittance to the Deepings School due to over-capacity. 

30. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2015 were 
signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

31. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 
10.3 

There were none. 

32. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were none. 

33. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were none. 

34. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan, published on 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 24 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2015

27 October 2015.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

35. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel. The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 
by the Panel.

Task Group members again raised issues around Pride in South 
Holland and the Street Scene, as discussed at previous meetings.  
The following points were raised:

 Could the Panel develop a policy around improved shop 
frontages (particularly in conservation areas), and street scene 
issues?

 Although these two issues were separate issues, they were 
linked.

 It was requested that a summary report around legislation 
relating to the duties of the Authority, with regard to shop 
frontage and street scene issues, and up-keep of public areas, 
be provided to the next meeting of the Panel - this would 
assist the Panel in identifying  whether there were any areas 
not covered by legislation that would enable it to develop a 
policy to improve these areas.

 Consideration could be given to introducing a voluntary code 
for applicants to consider in relation to the appearance of shop 
frontages.

 Enforcement in conservation areas – what powers could be 
used to address controversial applications, and could the size 
of a conservation area be reduced or extended?

 New signs regarding the disposal of chewing gum had been 
erected in the area – Councillors wanted to know who had put 
the signs up, how their location had been decided, and 
whether they were cost-effective.

 Councillor Eldridge commented that a new street cleaning 
machine had recently been promoted by the Council, and 
asked what had become of he old one, whether it had been 
leased or purchased, and whether it could be used in other 
towns and villages in the district.  

 

Page 2



- 25 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2015

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted;

b) That a summary of legislation relating to the duties of the local 
authority with regard to street scene issues, shop frontages 
and upkeep of public areas be provided to the next meeting of 
the Panel;

c) That information be provided on whether the size of 
conservation areas could be expanded or reduced, with regard 
to how conservation areas affected what was considered as 
appropriate signage for the areas;

d) That the Panel considers this information to ascertain whether 
there were any areas not covered by legislation that could be 
used to formulate a policy to address areas of concern;

e) That officers be requested to liaise with colleagues from the 
local authority covering Stamford to identify reasons why there 
was a different approach to  street scene/shop frontages in the 
South Holland area and the Stamford area; 

f) That Councillor McLean’s suggestion of introducing a 
voluntary code for shopkeepers in order to improve shop 
frontages be considered;

g) That Councillors be advised on issues around the erection of 
new signs regarding disposal of chewing gum – their location 
and cost-effectiveness; and

h) That Councillors be advised of whether the old street cleaner 
had been leased or purchased, and if it could be used in other 
towns and villages in the district. 

RF, PN 

RF, PN 

CM 

RF, PN 

RF, PN 

CM, RW 

CM, RW 

36. PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL PROVISION IN THE 
SOUTH HOLLAND AREA 

The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Matthew Clayton, School 
Organisation Planning Manager, Children’s Services, Lincolnshire 
County Council, and David Hair, Member Services Manager at 
Lincolnshire County Council.  They had been invited to answer 
questions following a Panel meeting on 9 June 2015, where 
concerns had been raised over primary and secondary school 
provision in the area, and how this was affected by development 
in the area.

Page 3



- 26 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2015

As the officers had been delayed in arriving to the meeting, this 
agenda item was moved to the end of the agenda for discussion.

Councillors had raised a number of issues prior to the meeting, 
and Mr Clayton’s responses had been circulated to all Panel 
members.

Councillors raised a number of issues as follows:

 Now that Crowland no longer had its own secondary school, it 
fell into the catchment area for the Deepings School.  This was 
over-subscribed.  Where would children from Crowland go to 
be schooled if they could not get into the Deepings School.  
The University Academy in Holbeach was also full, taking only 
siblings.  Did the Deepings School have the capacity to 
expand?  Could children in Crowland find themselves having 
to attend schools not of their choice?

o Matthew Clayton – Crowland was viewed as being 
within the catchment area for the Deepings School.  
The aim was to ensure that there were sufficient 
places available for children from the Deepings and 
Crowland at the Deepings School.  

o There were significant pressures coming forward in 
relation to the primary school sector, and this would 
eventually present itself in the secondary school 
sector.  Engagement with secondary schools 
needed to be undertaken now in order to prepare for 
this future demand.  The County Council had to 
negotiate and engage with Academies as these 
schools were not under their control.

o There was capacity to expand the Deepings School.  
Funding was never sufficient and therefore shortfalls 
had to be identified and prioritisation undertaken.

o With regard to perception of the quality of some 
schools, much of this was due to perception.  
School Governors had to ensure that they focussed 
on improving a school’s image.

 What was the likelihood of there being another secondary 
school in Crowland in the future?

o Matthew Clayton – Viability and size was a major 
issue when considering school locations.  Around 
600 pupils were required for a secondary school to 
be viable, with an optimum number of 1200.  A 
business case and capital would have to submitted, 
and this was not currently viable for Crowland.

Page 4



- 27 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2015

 Two pupils from Crowland had recently not been admitted to 
Deepings School – it had been stated that the school was at 
capacity.  Where this school was the preference for parents, 
the capacity issue had resulted in local children not being able 
to attend a local school of choice (Councillor Astill raised this 
issue and declared an interest in this issue as he was related 
to one of these children) 

o Matthew Clayton – There was no control over 
distance and preference.  Children in Spalding could 
not displace children in Crowland, unless they had 
siblings at the school.  Dealing with percentages of 
siblings was very difficult to predict.

 Was there a difficulty in attracting teachers into the South 
Holland area

o Matthew Clayton - Yes there was, there was no hard 
evidence as to why this was the case, but it was 
also a problem for much of the east coast too.  It 
was likely that the issue was more to do with 
location than levels of pay.

 The Shared Executive Director Place explained to the Member 
Services Manager from Lincolnshire County Council that at 
South Holland District Council, scrutiny was undertaken by two 
committees, the Performance Monitoring Panel and the Policy 
Development Panel.  Partner agencies had been invited to the 
last few meetings of the Policy Development Panel, and 
consideration had been given at a recent Scrutiny Away Day 
as to how the Panel could develop policy more effectively.  
The Panel was keen to scrutinise policies developed by 
partners that impacted on local people, and it wished to 
influence them during their early stages.

o David Hair responded that there were certain 
sensitivities around policy development, particularly 
political ones, and it was interesting to consider how 
partners could become involved.  

o He was interested in the dynamics of scrutiny at 
South Holland District Council as they were similar 
to those at the County Council.  

o Clearly the County Council had a responsibility to 
respond to recommendations put forward in the 
development of policy. His and Matthew Clayton’s 
attendance at the meeting were undertaken on a 
voluntary basis, and they wished to engage.  

o There had to be dialogue between political leaders 
and consultation formed part of the continued 
dynamic of working together.  Communication 
should be kept open wherever possible.

Page 5



- 28 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 4 
November 2015

It was suggested that the Authority should have a policy relating 
to community well-being, and be committed to this.  It was felt that 
there was currently a lack of consideration given to community 
well-being, and that therefore a Task Group should be set up to 
look at the reasons why companies / the NHS / schools etc could 
not attract professionals to the area.  The Shared Executive 
Director Place advised that he would give consideration to a 
scope for this proposed Task Group.

Matthew Clayton was thanked for the detailed responses that he 
had provided and Councillors were also thanked for submitting 
their questions.

DECISION:

a) That the update provided by the officers be noted; 

b) That the Shared Executive Director Place consider a scope for 
a Task Group to consider the reasons why companies/the 
NHS/schools etc could not attract professionals to the area, 
and how this linked to community well-being; and

c) That once this scope had been drafted, consideration be given 
to forming a Task Group to look at developing a policy to 
address these issues.

(Matthew Clayton and David Hair had joined the meeting during 
discussion of the Work Programme agenda item, and left 
following discussion of the above item). 

RW 

CM, RW 

(The meeting ended at 7.45 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 6



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued –  5 January 2016

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

Shelley French, Democratic Services Support Officer, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: memberservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £72,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £178,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:memberservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Between  1 Jan 
2016 and 31 Jan 2016

Roofing renewal 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new roofing renewal contract 
for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Between  1 Mar 
2016 and 31 Mar 2016

Portfolio Holder 
for Place

Pride in South 
Holland

To provide continued support to the 
Pride in South Holland Campaign 

Pride in South 
Holland
Pride in South 
Holland

Cabinet 22 Mar 2016

P
age 8



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

Removal of non-
licenced 
asbestos 
containing 
materials

To award a contract.  Portfolio Holder for 
Housing.

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager Between  1 May 
2016 and 31 May 2016

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing

Replacement of 
glazing (windows 
and doors)

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Between  1 May 
2016 and 31 May 2016

*Cabinet Membership
Councillor The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor S Slade (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

P
age 9



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Shelley French, Democratic Services Support Officer, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: memberservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 10

mailto:memberservices@sholland.gov.uk


SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker – Executive Director of Place

To: Policy Development Panel – 13 January 2016

Author: Phil Stacey Senior Housing Advice Officer

Subject: Addressing Long Term Empty Homes

Purpose: To present an update on the current situation regarding long term empty 
homes in South Holland

Recommendation: 

That the Policy Development Panel notes the progress made on addressing the number of long 
term empty homes in South Holland

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On 22 July 2015, the Policy Development Panel received a report on Addressing Long 
Term Empty Homes.

1.2 A briefing report has been produced which is attached at Appendix A to this report. The 
briefing report provides an overview of the following:

 Performance in returning empty homes back into use
 Empty Homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme 
 South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1: That the Panel notes the content of the report and attached briefing report and 
provides feedback.

2.2 Option 2:- Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To update the Policy Development Panel on progress in bringing empty homes back into 
use following an earlier report to the Panel in July 2015.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To return 75 empty homes to use per annum.

4.2 To maximise New Homes Bonus income to the authority.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 There is a strong link between work around empty homes and our corporate priorities,

Page 11

Agenda Item 8.



notably ‘to have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
and thrive. 

5.2 Crime and Disorder 

5.2.1  There is often a link between empty dwellings and anti-social behaviour. Addressing the
 issue of long term properties should make a contribution to wider efforts to address anti
 social behaviour.

5.3 Financial 

5.3.1 The additional resource committed retrospectively within the strategy has a financial
implication for the authority. This has been dealt with as part of a previous exercise.

5.4 Health & Wellbeing

5.4.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into
the condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing
agenda.

5.5 Risk Management 

5.5.1 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to bring
empty homes back into use. For example, the use of non-mandatory enforcement powers
(i.e. Compulsory Purchase, Empty Dwelling Management Orders etc.) carry with them
certain degrees of financial risk. However, decisions to utilise these powers will be made on
a case by case basis and only where enforcement action is deemed as the last option
available to the authority to bring a dwelling back into use.

5.6 Staffing

5.6.1 There are staffing implications of undertaking additional work on empty homes. The
Authority recruited additional resource during early 2014 to support the Council’s work in
this area.

5.7 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.7.1 There are no known implications for stakeholders, but empty homes work will require the 
Council to adopt a partnership approach. There are no known implications in terms of
timescales and consultation.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers: - Addressing Long Term Empty Homes in South Holland. July 
2015

Page 12



Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Stacey. Senior Housing Advice Officer
Telephone Number: 01775 764605
Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A: Briefing Report – Empty Homes in South Holland Update

Page 13

mailto:philstacey@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix A

Briefing Report: Empty Homes in South Holland Update

Phil Stacey Senior Housing Advice Officer Housing Manager

Page 15



2

1. Report purpose

This briefing report provides an update on South Holland District Council’s approach to returning long 
term empty homes to use. It sets out the activity that it undertakes to return dwellings to use, and the 
progress made in accordance with the South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16. 

2. Performance in returning empty homes back into use

In October 2015, SHDC had 258 empty properties; this was a reduction of 13 from the previous year. 

Currently; SHDC has 231 properties empty. 

137 properties have been empty for between 6 months and 2 years and 94 properties have been 
empty for over 2 years.

From 1st October to 22nd December 2015; 79 properties have been bought back into use: of these, 
17 were only bought back into use following the direct intervention of the team

3. Empty Homes and the New Homes Bonus scheme

SHDC will receive about £90,000 in new homes bonus this year directly because of the above work

4. South Holland Empty Homes Strategy 2014-16 

The strategy sets out our general approach to returning empty homes to use. It is structured along the 
lines of four ‘priorities for action’, those being: 

 The understand the extent of empty homes in the district, including their location and reason 
for being vacant

 To raise awareness of empty dwellings in the district, and develop partnerships that can 
assist the authority in addressing the issues

 Develop a range of options, incentives and measures designed to assist, encourage and 
where necessary compel owners to return their property back to use

 Ensuring adequate resources to undertake empty homes work, and develop a systematic 
approach to dealing with empty homes in the future

The document makes a commitment to seek to return 75 dwelling back into use per annum for the 
lifespan of the strategy. 

5. The progress made against actions

Below is a summary of the progress made against the actions within the strategy

Planned Action Action 
Status

Comments 

To undertake an annual data cleanse of council 
tax records. This is in order to ensure that 
properties listed on council tax records as empty 
are indeed vacant, and not occupied.

GREEN
This is completed with support from 
CPBS.

To undertake a rolling programme of postal 
surveys to owners of properties which have been 
empty for greater than six months. This is in order 
to establish the reasons for the property 
becoming vacant, the reasons why it remains 
empty, and the barriers to bringing the dwelling 
back into use.

GREEN
The programme is established and in 
operation. 

Establish a Long Term Empty Homes Task 
Group, consisting of teams across the authority 
with both an interest in addressing the problems 
associated with individual long term empty 

GREEN
This group is established and meets 
to discuss cross-departmental 
approaches to address individual 
long-term empty homes

Page 16



3

homes, along with teams who hold statutory 
powers that may assist the authority in achieving 
its desired aims.
To engage key organisations in the council’s 
empty homes work. To ensure that an ongoing 
dialogue takes place between the council and 
partner agencies to ensure that all opportunities 
to draw upon the resources, skills and expertise 
of other organisations is explored.

AMBER
SHDC has engaged with private 
landlords, agents and investors for 
joint work around empty homes. Work 
still needs to be undertaken to involve 
and engage the police, parish 
councils and fire and rescue services. 

Establish a dedicated ‘Advice and Assistance on 
Empty Homes’ space on SHDC’s webpage, along 
with a mechanism to allow member of the public 
to report details of empty homes directly to the 
authority. To look to use social media and other 
outlets to publicise the authority’s work in this 
area.

AMBER
The space on the website is yet to be 
developed (pending a wider review of 
SHDC’s website). Social media has 
been used extensively to promote our 
work around empty homes. 

Establish a ‘South Holland Empty Homes Advice 
Scheme’ for use by owners of empty dwellings. GREEN

The advice scheme has been 
established, led by the authority’s 
Private Sector Housing team in 
conjunction with Building Control, 
Planning and the wider Housing team. 

Develop access to public and privately-led Empty 
Homes ‘lease and repair’ schemes AMBER

The authority is working with a 
number of housing associations to 
facilitate access to ‘lease and repair 
schemes’. South Holland was a 
partner of the government-backed 
national Empty Homes Loan Scheme, 
but that scheme folded in October 
2014. 

Establish an Empty Homes Property Matching 
Service GREEN

The Empty Homes Property Matching 
Scheme is now established, with 37 
property investors as part of the 
scheme. 

Where it is considered appropriate to do so, and 
on a case-by-case basis, the council will utilise 
enforcement powers to bring about the re-use of 
long term vacant dwellings.

GREEN
The authority is presently initiating 
enforcement action for a small 
number of properties where 
prolonged attempts to support owners 
to return their dwellings to use have 
failed. 

Increase officer resource by 0.6FTE, thus 
providing the authority with a full time officer 
resource with which to address empty homes and 
delivery the Empty Homes Strategy.  

GREEN
Completed in April 2014

Produce an Empty Homes Delivery Plan that sets 
out how officer resources will be allocated in 
order to achieve the council’s empty homes 
target.

GREEN
Completed 

In addition, SHDC is in the process of working on 3 priority cases, which could shortly end in legal 
action; for example: two of these cases may result in SHDC using its powers to compulsory purchase 
the empty home.

Resources will be directed towards the 94 properties that have been empty for over 2 years and to 
publicize and encourage owners and other stakeholders to engage positively with SHDC.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker – Executive Director Place

To: Policy Development Panel – 13 January 2016

(Author: Paul Jackson – Place Manager

Subject: Street Scene Issues

Purpose: To respond to issues raised at Policy Development Panel on 4 November 
2015

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1       Background

1.1.1 At Policy Development Panel held on 4 November 2015 it was agreed:

a) That a summary of legislation relating to the duties of the local authority with regard to 
street scene issues, shop frontages and upkeep of public areas be provided to the next 
meeting of the Panel;

b) That information be provided on whether the size of conservation area could be 
expanded or reduced, with regard to how conservation areas affected what was 
considered as appropriate signage for the areas;

c) That the Panel considers this information to ascertain whether there were any areas not 
covered by legislation that could be used to formulate a policy to address areas of 
concern;

d) That officers be requested to liaise with colleagues from the local authority covering 
Stamford to identify reasons why there was a different approach to street scene/shop 
frontages in the South Holland and Stamford area;

e) That Councillor McLean's suggestion of introducing a voluntary code for shopkeepers in 
order to improve shop frontages be considered;

f) That Councillors be advised on issues around the erection of new signs regarding 
disposal of chewing gum – their location and cost-effectiveness; and

g) That Councillors be advised of whether the old street cleaner had been leased or 
purchased, and if it could be used in other towns and villages in the district.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 The Corporate Plan 2015-19 sets out the Council’s key priorities.  In the context of street 
scene issues two of the four key priorities are extremely pertinent.  These are;

 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop and 
thrive; and

 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

1.2.2 Members and officers have long held concerns regarding the impact the general 
appearance of our town and village centres has on the wider impression of the district.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 9.



Over a substantial period of time concerns have focussed on a variety of matters, these 
ranging from town centre shop unit vacancy rates to the effect that changes to the 
appearance of individual units have on the overall impression of individual town and village 
centres.  Some of these concerns are focussed on the periodic carrying out of unauthorised 
works to individual buildings or units.  Others stem from physical changes to individual 
premises permitted under existing legislative regimes, notably planning legislation.  Further 
concerns arise from issues relating to the general appearance of the town and village 
centres, these centring on street furniture, litter and advertising.  Additional focus has 
centred on issues concerning the overall neglect of key individual buildings.

1.2.3 In order to better understand these issues, and to seek to effectively improve the overall 
appearance of our town and villages centres, Members requested an update on the various 
legislative regimes.  Their ambition was to explore whether or not there was merit in 
seeking to introduce wider legislative controls or a voluntary code of practice for 
shopkeepers and town and village centre businesses; or, indeed, both. 

1.2.4 Summary of Legislative Regimes

1.2.5 Planning Legislation

1.2.6 Planning legislation is generally complicated, largely reactive in the context of unauthorised 
works and, given the various appeal process involved when unauthorised works are 
undertaken, particularly time-consuming.  In addition, a wide variety of minor works can be 
carried out without the need for prior planning approval and what does, and therefore does 
not, require planning permission if often misunderstood.

1.2.7 In brief, planning permission is required;

 to install a new shop front;
 to install external shutters; and
 to carry out other material alterations such as replacement windows to commercial 

premises.

1.2.8 In addition to the above, listed building consent is generally required for all works to listed 
buildings - other than the most minor works of like-for-like repair.

1.2.9 In relation to signage, certain types of signs require an application for advertisement 
consent (usually illuminated signs).  However, other types of signage will not require prior 
approval and may be displayed with deemed consent.  This will include the repainting or 
rebranding of existing premises on existing shop fascias.

1.2.10 Listed building consent will generally be required to install signage on a listed building.

1.2.11 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) regulations 2007 makes 
provision for the introduction of Orders for Areas of Special Control.  These can be invoked, 
following consultation, where greater control of advertisements is deemed to be 
appropriate.  Tighter control of advertisements in Conservation Areas is therefore a 
possibility using these orders.  There are currently no such orders in South Holland.

1.2.12 Planning permission is not required for;

 the painting of shopfronts (unless listed);
 the introduction of signage within buildings set behind glazing; or

Page 20



 the placement of shop displays/furniture/goods within buildings immediately behind 
glazing.

1.2.13 Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) empowers the Local 
Authority to get unsightly sites tidied up.  This can include both land and buildings.  The 
powers can only be used where it can be demonstrated that the condition of the site is 
adversely affecting the wider amenity of the area.

1.3. Conservation Areas

1.3.1 It is possible to amend the boundaries of a conservation area.  Under the provisions of 
Section 69.2 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Local 
Planning Authorities are obliged to review their Conservation Areas in order to justify their 
future status and make amendments to boundaries where considered necessary.  In this 
context it is worth noting that the Spalding Conservation Area was expanded in 2009 
following a conservation appraisal undertaken in 2008.  A conservation area appraisal and 
management plan for Holbeach conservation area (commissioned by the Parish Council) 
was produced in 2010 

1.3.2 It is also important to understand that the Council as local planning authority needs to adopt 
a balanced approach in conservation areas that focusses on preserving and enhancing the 
character of the area whilst at the same time allowing retailers to advertise their shops in a 
way that will attract business.  The South Holland Local Plan 2006 formerly included Policy 
EN10 – Adverts and Signage within Conservation Areas and on or near Listed Buildings.  
Following a Direction by the Secretary of State this policy was not saved and has not 
therefore applied since 2009.  However, its content still provides a reasonable framework 
for appropriate advertisements and signs, which could be further supplemented by a 
Supplementary Planning Document for new shopfronts and signage.  Policy EN10 read as 
follows:

" The District Council will grant express consent for signage that contributes to the quality of 
its historic setting in conservation areas and/or on or near listed buildings. Express consent 
will be granted, in appropriate circumstances, for signage that:

1) is in keeping with the general character of the area in which it is situated through its 
scale, style, siting, design, colour and location;

2) is constructed of materials appropriate to the character of the building/area where it is 
located;

3) consists of a form of signage not featuring internally illuminated fascias or projecting box 
signs;

4) is not positioned above the bottom of first floor window level on shops or offices. Signage 
for public houses may be located at higher levels to retain their traditional appearance if 
such allocation is compatible with the scale and form of the building where it is attached.

5) maintains the scale and integrity of the building on which it is situated and does not 
straddle the frontage of two buildings of differing scale and appearance;

6) would not present a clutter or duplication in conjunction with other signage on the 
building; and

Page 21



7) would not cause detriment to the amenity of the surrounding area by virtue of the 
proposed degree of illumination of the proposed signage, the duration of illumination or the 
intermittent nature of the illumination."

1.3.3 Finally, the establishment of a conservation area does not, of itself, further extend the remit 
of existing planning or listed building controls nor does it entirely remove existing permitted 
development rights.  Rather, it limits the extent of some permitted works – notably relating 
to the extent of permitted extensions to domestic buildings and some small minor works 
such as external cladding.  It also removes the right to demolish buildings (other than those 
of less than 115 square metres) and, in some circumstances, certain means of enclosure 
such as walls and fences.

1.4 Stamford

1.4.1 Stamford introduced the first Conservation Area in the country. The whole of the Old Town 
and St Martin's is within the Conservation Area and its boundaries include over 600 listed 
buildings (over half of the total of listed buildings in Lincolnshire). There is also an Area of 
Special Control for Advertisements and, given the significance of the vast number of listed 
buildings located within the centre of Stamford, there is wide justification for this level of 
control.  In addition to the above, South Kesteven support this level of control with an over-
arching Stamford Shopfront Design Guide produced in 1993, this is referenced in Policy 
EN1 of the South Kesteven Core Strategy.

1.4.2 The towns and villages of South Holland do not contain, within their overall fabric, either a 
vast range of listed buildings or areas within their cores which have such particular focus 
that would, in the view of officers, justify the level of control exercised within Stamford.  In 
particular, greater levels of control are only realistically achievable when buildings are 
included on the statutory list of heritage properties.  The fact that the numbers of listed 
buildings located within the main towns and villages of South Holland is significantly less 
than those located within Stamford’s core significantly betters South Kesteven’s ability to 
maintain higher levels of control through primary legislation.

1.4.3 There is the potential to introduce other forms of control within South Holland through the 
use of, for example, Article 4 Directions removing certain permitted development rights.  
The legislative process for doing so is complex, requires widespread prior formal 
consultation and the agreement of the Secretary of State, and equally requires significant 
justification in the context of preserving overall amenity.  It ought also be noted that where 
such controls are introduced the refusal of consent for that which would otherwise be 
permitted development is, in certain circumstances, compensable.  These potential costs 
would need, in such circumstances, to be borne by the Council as local planning authority.

1.5 Voluntary Code

1.5.1 The suggestion of working towards introducing a voluntary code for shopkeepers has merit.  
Within Spalding town centre, this is a matter that could be discussed with the Town Centre 
Manager (to whom it has been recently mentioned) and the Chamber of Trade.  However, 
there are issues in pursuing such a course of action centring on the facts that not all 
retailers are members of the Chamber; retail units within the town centres are held within a 
wide variety of ownerships; and there would need to be consensual agreement on what 
matters the code would cover.  The most obvious course of action would be to pursue a 
code which sought to establish common ground.  This could focus on matters such as 
general agreement not to paint shopfronts in inappropriate primary colours; not to apply 
vinyl to display windows; not to install inappropriate signage such as internally illuminated 
box fascia signs; and to internally maintain attractive window displays.  Engagement within 

Page 22



the other main towns and villages would need to follow a similar course but is likely to be 
more difficult to coordinate.

1.6 Chewing Gum signage

1.6.1   In September 2015, the Environmental Services Team were successful in their application 
to be part of a National campaign, funded and promoted by the Keep Britain Tidy group, to 
raise awareness of the issues of dropping chewing gum on streets.  Chewing gum is the 
most difficult material to remove from the streets and is an issue for all of the streets in the 
main towns of South Holland. 

1.6.2 As part of this campaign, the council was provided with posters and publicity materials in 
respect to encouraging chewing gum users to dispose of used gum in bins.  Small trial 
areas were chosen in Crowland, Spalding and Holbeach where posters were temporarily 
erected (all posters have now been removed).  These trial areas were selected by the 
Street Cleansing Supervisor who was aware of heavy chewing gum presence at these 
locations e.g. outside public houses, a night club, dentists or local shops. These areas were 
then cleaned of chewing gum and monitored to assess the impact of the marketing 
campaign. 

1.6.3 Information on pre and post-trial cleaning has now been submitted to the Keep Britain Tidy 
group who will collate the information and provide a report on the impact of the national 
project.  However, South Holland’s street cleansing team has confirmed that the areas in 
question have improved in terms of chewing gum disposal and as such further areas will be 
looked at this Spring. 

1.7 Street Cleaning Machinery

1.7.1 In 2014, the Council purchased 3 new sweepers that will be utilised over the entire district. 
The previous street cleansing equipment had been leased and at the end of this contract 
was deemed to be at the end of its useful life; and therefore purchase was not an option for 
the Council. 

1.7.2 In August 2015, the Council was successful in a bid for funding to assist with street 
cleansing and as such a Glutton sweeper (large vacuum cleaner) has been leased to 
assess the impact of its ability before a decision is made on purchase.  At present, this 
machine has only been deployed in Spalding.  However, once a suitable vehicle can be 
allocated it is intended to transport the Glutton to other towns and villages. 

1.8 Enforcement Issues

1.8.1 Members also need to consider the wider enforcement regime.  As mentioned earlier, the 
enforcement regime (and particularly that relating to planning) is reactive, lengthy and 
potentially costly.  It does not generally offer a proactive mechanism for seeking 
improvements to town or village centres, rather a reactive process to pursuing the carrying 
out of individual and often isolated unauthorised works.  Whilst appropriate enforcement 
action needs to be pursued where all other avenues fail, it is far better to adopt a positive 
approach to wider visual enhancement rather than a purely reactive approach to often 
isolated cases relating to the carrying out of unauthorised works to individual premises. 
Furthermore, enforcement action can only ever seek to restore a pre-existing state or, put 
plainly, the status quo.  It does not provide a positive platform on which to seek to secure 
overall improvements to wider localities.  In this sense, the use of enforcement action on 
individual properties when unacceptable unauthorised works are carried remains a useful 
tool.  Such actions, however, need to be pursued in tandem with other actions – these 

Page 23



including the serving of untidy land notices where appropriate but, more positively, wider 
engagement with existing businesses, traders, property owners and others to promote the 
overall betterment of the wider street scene.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That members note the contents of the report and make comments, instructing officers as 
appropriate.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 This is a factual report that does not require members to make a formal decision.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To provide members with up to date and relevant information.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no direct implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing 

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

Page 24



5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards affected.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Paul Jackson – Place Manager

Emily Spicer – Environmental Services and Asset Manager
Richard Fidler – Development Manager

Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: paul.jackson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

emily.spicer@sholland.gov.uk
rfidler@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 25

mailto:paul.jackson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:emily.spicer@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:rfidler@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Stinson – Executive Manager Governance

To: Policy Development Panel – 13 January 2016

(Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Policy Development Panel Work Programme 

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel

Recommendation:

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

Page 27

Agenda Item 10.



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There are no direct carbon footprint and environmental issue implications associated with 
this report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their carbon 
footprint and environmental issue implications will be assessed.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 There are no direct constitution and legal implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their constitutional and legal 
implications will be assessed.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There are no direct contract implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their contract implications will be assessed.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the topic 
links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their crime and disorder 
implications will be assessed.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 There are no direct equality and diversity or human rights implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their equality and 
diversity and human rights implications will be assessed.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, their financial implications will be assessed.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 There are no direct health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their health and wellbeing 

Page 28



implications will be assessed.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, their risk management implications will 
be assessed. 

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 There are no direct safeguarding implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, their safeguarding implications will be 
assessed. 

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their staffing implications will be assessed.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 There are no direct stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their 
stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications will be assessed.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 When a task group is considered for inclusion on the Panel’s Work Programme, it is 
assessed against criteria covering ‘Importance’, ‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’.  The 
‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’ score indicators consider how strongly the issue will affect a 
ward(s), customer group(s) or service area(s).  Only issues scoring highly will be included 
in the Work Programme.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:  No

Exempt Decision:  No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A 
Appendix B

Work Programme Calendar
Task Group Work Programme 2015/16

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
13 January 2016  Update on current situation around long-term empty 

homes (first update received 22/7/15) (Matthew Hogan)
 Update report on the development of an apprenticeship 

scheme (as discussed at PDP 22/7/15) (Phil Adams)
 Street scene issues – 1) Summary report outlining 

legislation relating to the duties of the local authority with 
regard to street scene issues, shop frontages and upkeep 
of public areas; 2) Information on whether the size of 
conservation areas could be expanded or reduced, in 
relation to signage permitted within these areas (Richard 
Fidler)

9 March 2016 
26 April 2016 

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation; 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2015/2016

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.

1. By establishing what leisure provision 
the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 33



Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 
arranged.

Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
from the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

Outline Purpose of Review…

To look into whether it was possible for 
the Council to extend the use of the Sir 
Halley Stewart Playing Field to wider 
public access, within the scope of the 
deeds.

…..based on the following Terms of 
Reference:

 To establish the situation with regard 
to finances in relation to the Sir Halley 
Stewart Playing Field;

 To establish what activities could be 
undertaken at the Sir Halley Stewart 
Playing Field, and what they would 
cost;

 To establish how the community 
could be included in a wider usage of 
the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field;

 To consider the promotion of the 
booking and accessibility of the Sir 

11 December 
2013

12 February 
2014

G R Aley
P E Coupland
G K Dark 
(Chairman)
A Harrison
R Perkins
E Sneath

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Final report to Council 
21 January 2015
Update from Council 
meeting to PDP 
received 10 February 
2015.
Update to PMP 3 March 
2015 including PDP 
members.

P
age 34



Halley Stewart Playing Field in order 
to ensure that the Public Benefit test 
was met.

Verbal update to PMP meeting on 3 
March 2015, including PDP members, on 
the current situation.  Following this, it 
was agreed to have a further update on 
progress of work programme set up to 
address recommendations made by the 
Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task 
Group to be provided to both Panels in 
September 2015.

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Addressing Long Term Empty Homes
	Empty Homes update report Appendix A

	9. Street Scene Issues
	10. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A Calendar of Work Programme items
	Appendix B Work Programme 201516


